1990

Ivan J. Heslop v. Bank of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

The Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(3)(j).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW, STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW, AND SUPPORTING AUTHORITY.

1. Did the trial court err in denying the Bank of Utah's (hereinafter Bank) motion for j.n.o.v. because the evidence was insufficient as a matter of law to establish that Ivan J. Heslop (hereinafter Heslop) was constructively discharged; the evidence was insufficient as a matter of law to establish that Heslop had an implied-in-fact contract terminable only for good cause and was not an employee at will; and the evidence was sufficient as a matter of law to establish good cause to terminate?

Standard of Review: Is the verdict supported by substantial and competent evidence, is the evidence insufficient to support the verdict, and does the evidence clearly preponderate in favor of the Bank so that reasonable people could not differ on the outcome. W. Fiberglass v. Kirton, McConkie Etc., 789 P.2d 34 (Utah App. 1990); Onybear v. Pro Roofing, Inc., 787 P.2d 525 (Utah App. 1990); Canyon Country Store v. Bracey, 781 P.2d 414 (Utah 1989); Hansen v. Stewart, 761 P.2d 14 (Utah 1988).

2. Did the trial court improperly admit evidence of an accrual account problem, the State's investigations thereof, the hiring and salary of Thomas Timmons, payments by the Bank to Peat, Marwick, wash entries made by Beutler, and terminations of other employees because such evidence was irrelevant under Rules

401 and 402, U.R.E., and/or was inadmissible under Rule 403, U.R.E?

Standard of Review: Abuse of discretion and whether a substantial right of the party is affected. Whitehead v. American Motors Sales Corp., 801 P.2d 920 (Utah 1990); Rule 103, U.R.E.; Onyeabar v. Pro Roofing, Inc., supra; Pearce v. Wistisen, 701 P.2d 489 (Utah 1985).

3. Did the trial court err in failing to instruct the jury that evidence of the accrual problem and matters related thereto should be disregarded once Heslop's public policy claim was dismissed, or in the alternative, that it was only relevant to the issue of good cause?

Standard of Review: Same as stated in Issue 2; would the Bank have obtained a more favorable result absent the error, Rowley v. Graven Bros. & Co., 26 Utah 2d 448, 491 P.2d 1209 (1971).

4. Did the trial court err in denying the Bank's motion for new trial due to insufficiency of evidence?

Standard of Review: Is the evidence insufficient to support the verdict, Hansen v. Stewart, supra; was the "'verdict plainly unreasonable and unjust'" due to "'slight and unconvincing'" evidence. King v. Fereday, 739 P.2d 618 (Utah 1987).

5. Did the trial court err in denying the Bank's motion for new trial because of admission of prejudicial evidence and prejudicial arguments and misstatements by Heslop's counsel during closing argument preventing the Bank from receiving a fair trial and constituting error in law?

Standard of Review: Abuse of discretion. King v. Fereday, supra.

6. Did the trial court err in ruling that Berube v. Fashion Centre, Ltd., 771 P.2d 1033 (Utah 1989), should be applied retroactively to the facts of this case?

Standard of Review: Correctness of court's ruling. No particular deference should be granted the trial court's conclusion. See Scharf v. B.M.G. Corp., 700 P.2d 1068 (Utah 1985).

7. Did the trial court err in ruling that Heslop's claims were not barred by the statute of frauds?

Standard of Review: Same as stated in Issue 10.

STATUTES, AND/OR RULES WHOSE INTERPRETATION
IS DETERMINATIVE

1. Rule 103, Utah Rules of Evidence.
2. Rule 401, Utah Rules of Evidence.
3. Rule 402, Utah Rules of Evidence.
4. Rule 403, Utah Rules of Evidence.
5. U.C.A. §7-1-318.
6. Rule 59, U.R.C.P.
7. U.C.A. §25-5-4(1).

The foregoing rules and statutes are set forth verbatim and attached as Addendum 1 to the Bank's brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition in the Trial Court.

This is an employment wrongful discharge case. Heslop alleged that the Bank constructively discharged him in October, 1983. Heslop further claimed he had an implied-in-fact contract of employment terminable only for cause, and that he was not an employee-at-will.

The Bank claimed Heslop voluntarily resigned, and that he was an employee-at-will who could be terminated without cause. Finally, the Bank asserted there was good cause to terminate.

Heslop filed suit in June, 1987. He asserted seven causes of action. (Record on Appeal, hereinafter R., 1-12) The trial court dismissed Heslop's cause of action for defamation by order dated May 25, 1989. (R. 250-51) By order and judgment dated July 10, 1989, the court granted the Bank's motion for summary judgment as to Heslop's causes of action for promissory estoppel, breach of implied-in-law covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and intentional infliction of emotional distress. In the same order, the trial court ruled that Berube v. Fashion Centre, Ltd., supra, should be applied retroactively to the case. (R. 359-61) A copy of this Order and Judgment is attached as Addendum 2.

An additional partial summary judgment was entered by the trial court on May 23, 1990, dismissing Heslop's cause of action for tortious wrongful discharge, including all claims for tort damages and punitive damages. (R. 475-76)

The claims which remained for trial were whether Heslop was constructively discharged, whether he had an implied-in-fact contract terminable only for cause, whether he had been terminated in violation of public policy, and whether there was good cause to terminate. At the end of Heslop's case in chief, the court granted the Bank's motion to dismiss Heslop's public policy claim. (Transcript on Appeal, hereinafter Tr., 1149-51) At the conclusion of all evidence, the Bank moved for a directed verdict on the grounds that Heslop's claims were barred by the statute of frauds, that there was no constructive discharge or implied-in-fact contract and that the Bank had good cause to terminate Heslop, as a matter of law. (Tr. 1544-45) The court denied the motion on the issue of good cause and took the remainder of the motion under advisement pending the jury's verdict. The court stated it was a very close question on whether to grant the motion on the constructive discharge issue. The only evidence that corroborated Heslop's testimony that he was asked to resign was Heslop's own resignation letter which began: "Pursuant to your request". (Tr. 1552-53, 1559-61)

The jury returned a special verdict, finding Heslop did not voluntarily resign, that he had an implied-in-fact contract,

that the Bank did not have good cause to terminate him, and that he had been damaged in the amount of \$160,000. (R. 644-45) Judgment on the verdict was signed on August 27, 1990. (R. 648a-648b) Copy attached as Addendum 3. The court denied the Bank's motion for j.n.o.v. or in the alternative for new trial by order dated October 16, 1990. (R. 1182-85) Copy attached as Addendum 4. Defendant's Notice of Appeal was filed November 13, 1990. (R. 1186-87) Copy attached as Addendum 5.

B. Statement of Facts.

1. Heslop's Employment Background and the Bank's Employment Policy and Practice.

Heslop was first employed at the Bank in 1955. (Tr. 112) He worked there until 1959 when he left to take a different job. (Tr. 112) When Heslop was hired in 1955, he signed an employment application (Tr. 113; Exh. 1-P), in which he expressly agreed that his continued employment "will depend upon my usefulness to the bank, in its sole discretion; the bank reserving the right to release me without notice, its obligation ending with the payment of salary through the last day I work." (Tr. 114; Exh. 1-P)

Heslop was rehired by the Bank in 1962. (Tr. 112) He testified he discussed the terms of his rehire with Rod Browning and Bill Beutler, both officers of the Bank. (Tr. 116-119) Heslop's understanding was that he had an employment contract to work until he retired at age 65, unless there was good cause to terminate. (Tr. 296) Heslop was not asked to sign another

employment application/agreement when he was rehired in 1962.
(Tr. 119)

Heslop testified Beutler told him the Bank's policy was to terminate employees only for good cause, or when there was a major reduction in force. (Tr. 120, 296) Beutler had no recollection of any details of what he discussed with Heslop in 1962. (Tr. 881) Specifically, Beutler had no recollection of ever telling Heslop he had an employment contract until retirement which could only be terminated for cause. (Tr. 887) During all the years Beutler was employed at the Bank, he never heard Frank Browning, who was president and chairman of the board, or later Rod Browning, who became board chairman and president of the Bank, say the Bank's policy was that employees could only be terminated for cause. (Tr. 886) Beutler was himself in charge of personnel at the Bank for many years. (Tr. 880) He could not recall any instance where he said, nor was he aware of any instance where anyone else at the Bank ever said, that an employee could only be terminated for good cause. (Tr. 919)

When Heslop was rehired in 1962, no one from the Bank committed to him that he was being hired for six months, a year, six years, ten years, or any fixed period of time. (Tr. 293)

It was not the Bank's practice to have re-hired employees sign another employment application. The original personnel file and the original employment application/agreement were

revived. (Tr. 884-85, 1016-17) Several employees or former employees of the Bank testified at trial. All of them signed an employment application/agreement which contained the same at-will language as Heslop's. These included Beutler on July 2, 1957 (Tr. 881-82; Exh. 68-D), Boyd Carlsen on March 9, 1960 (Tr. 741-42; Exh. 63-D), V. Ray Kennedy on November 16, 1956 (Tr. 1354-55; Exh. 87-D), Edward G. Kleyn in February, 1974 (Tr. 792; Exh. 64-D), James K. Packer on January 15, 1958 (Tr. 634-35; Exh. 58-D), Gerald Peacock on October 24, 1975 (Tr. 693-94; Exh. 61-D), Gerald R. West in November, 1961 (Tr. 542-44; Exh. 57-D), and Roy Nelson on December 22, 1954 (Tr. 1433-34; Exh. 90-D). At the time of trial, all of the above-named witnesses except Kennedy and Nelson were no longer employed by the Bank.

The Bank's existing personnel records include files on six or eight re-hired employees. In every case, the Bank reactivated and used the original employment application for that employee. (Tr. 1434) For example, this happened with both Gerald Peacock (Tr. 693-94) and Ray Kennedy (Tr. 1354-56), as well as Heslop.

The Bank's present employment application, which has been in use for several years, contains the same basic employment-at-will language as all the other employment applications referred to above. (Tr. 1015-16, 1434-36; Exh. 91-D) Roy Nelson, president and chief operating officer of the Bank since

December, 1985, testified this reflects the Bank's policy regarding employment. (Tr. 1372, 1436)

Rod Browning is the controlling owner of the Bank. He owns 100% of the stock in Browning Bank Corporation, a holding company which owns 66% of the Bank's stock. (Tr. 1012) Browning is chairman of the board. He was actively involved in hiring for a number of years in the 1960's and part of the 1970's. He never told any employees they could only be terminated for cause. (Tr. 1017-18) As a practical matter, however, over the years, the Bank has typically never fired anyone without a reason. (Tr. 1018)

Several former employees of the Bank testified their understanding of Bank personnel policy was that they could only be fired for cause. (See Tr. 508, 620, 642-43, 704, 1364)

Gerald West testified he understood the language in the employment application meant his employment with the Bank could be terminated at the Bank's discretion. He was never given anything in writing which rescinded or changed that provision. (Tr. 544)

Heslop was rehired as a loan officer in the installment and commercial loan departments. (Tr. 121) He was made an assistant vice president in 1963 and became a vice president in 1966. In 1976, he was appointed to the Officers Executive Committee (OEC). In 1980, Heslop was appointed senior vice

president and manager of the Bank's commercial and installment loan operations in the Salt Lake Division. (Tr. 121-22, 124)

2. Accrual Account Problems and Heslop's First Offer to Resign.

The OEC oversaw general operations of the Bank on a day-to-day basis. It held regular weekly meetings and also met each month with the Bank's Directors Executive Committee (DEC). The DEC consisted of five directors involved in setting Bank policy and reviewing major decisions. (Tr. 124)

Beutler was chairman of the OEC. In spring of 1981, he reported to the OEC a \$200,000 deficiency in the time certificate of deposit interest accrual expense account. (Tr. 129) This was an internal account at the Bank. It was used to maintain a running total of the amount of interest the Bank owed on time certificates of deposit purchased by Bank customers. (See Tr. 130-31)

In November, 1981, at a regular OEC meeting, Heslop asked Beutler if the accrual deficiency had been corrected. Beutler said it had not, and was now \$500,000 or \$1,000,000. (Tr. 135)

Beutler and Heslop argued about whether to report the matter to Browning. Heslop thought it should be reported. Beutler did not. (Tr. 135) A couple of days later, the OEC met with Browning. The accrual problem was not mentioned. Later that day, Heslop called Browning and reported the problem. Heslop also offered to resign because he was concerned Beutler would think he had gone behind his back to Browning. Browning

told Heslop not to resign and that he would handle the problem from there on. (Tr. 136, 1020-21)

There were two methods of correcting the accrual account deficiency. One was to take an immediate one-time charge against the Bank's undivided profits in an amount equal to the total deficiency. The other method was to make monthly, installment charges against undivided profits until the entire deficiency was eliminated. (Tr. 138-39, 325, 906, 1026) Heslop favored taking a one-time charge. Beutler recommended the monthly, installment method. (Tr. 138-39, 325) Beutler told the OEC he had consulted with the Bank's outside accounting firm of Fox & Company who had advised him the deficiency could be cleared by use of the installment method. (Tr. 336, 338, 589) James Packer and Ray Kennedy, the two other members of the OEC, followed Beutler's recommendation. (Tr. 590-92)

At the end of each calendar quarter, the Bank was required to file a call report setting forth its financial condition with the State Department of Financial Institutions.

On December 4, 1981, the OEC met with the DEC. (Tr. 240) During this meeting, Beutler explained the accrual deficiency. He said it amounted to approximately \$700,000. Beutler presented the two methods of resolving the deficiency, reported Fox & Company's approval of either method, and recommended the installment method, which was adopted by the DEC. (Tr. 145, 342-43, 626-27, 845-46, 905-07, 1026-27, 1346, 1459-61) Beutler

said the deficiency could be resolved in about six months. (Tr. 1026-27) Heslop did not object to use of the installment method during this December 4 meeting. He did not recommend a one-time charge. He did not say the Bank's call reports would be false and inaccurate if the deficiency was corrected over time. (Tr. 343-44, 1027-28, 1346) Heslop subsequently prepared personal notes detailing the accrual account problem and other Bank matters. In his notes, he claimed he believed the installment method was a violation of Utah law. Nonetheless, he did not say that at the December 4 meeting. (See Exh. 39-P)

No one in attendance at the December 4, 1981, DEC meeting suggested that handling the deficiency on a monthly basis was illegal. (Tr. 345) All of the Directors on the DEC and also Heslop had confidence in Beutler, who had been preparing the Bank's call reports for a long time. (Tr. 347-48, 626, 627, 880) Browning relied on Beutler to prepare them. (Tr. 880, 1033-34) Browning believed it was perfectly proper to handle the accrual problem over time. (Tr. 1033-34)

Beutler did not believe the installment method was illegal or improper. He believed the DEC adopted it in good faith. He did not think any of them would intentionally break the law. Beutler did not think the December, 1981, March, 1982, and June, 1982, call reports he prepared were false, misleading, or intended to deceive. (Tr. 905-09)

Without knowledge of the DEC, Beutler, both before and after the December 4, 1981, meeting made "wash entries" to the accrual account when the quarterly call reports were due. A wash entry consisted of a book transfer of funds from one internal bank account to the interest accrual account a day or so before the date of the call report and a subsequent reversal transfer of the same funds back to the original account a day or two after the date of the call report. The purpose of the wash entry was to prevent bank regulators from seeing the accrual deficiency. (Tr. 832-33) The wash entries hid the TCD accrual accounts. (Tr. 681) Beutler nonetheless never told the DEC that handling the deficiency on a monthly basis was improper. (Tr. 905-09)

In July, 1982, Beutler notified the federal and state bank regulators of the accrual account problem and the method being used by the Bank to resolve the problem. (Tr. 349, 858-60, 911-12; Exh. 47-D)

Beutler reported to the Board and/or DEC that the deficiency would be reduced to \$80,000 by August, 1982, and was basically taken care of. (Tr. 601-02)

On August 2, 1982, the federal and state bank examiners started a regular examination of the Bank. (Tr. 350) The accrual account problem was investigated. It was determined that deficiencies existed which were much greater than Beutler had ever disclosed to the DEC or the OEC. (See Tr. 680, 982)

On August 6, 1982, Elaine Weis, Commissioner of the State Department of Financial Institutions, called a special meeting of the Bank's Board of Directors. Several regulatory people were present, including representatives from the Utah State Attorney General's Office and the Federal Reserve. (Tr. 598-99, 1039-40, 1445). Weis issued an order suspending Beutler as executive vice president and director, requiring an immediate outside audit of the Bank, requiring that a representative of the Commissioner be placed in residence in the Bank, requiring the Bank to file corrected call reports for December 31, 1981, March 31 and June 30, 1982, and specifically finding that Beutler had violated §7-1-318, Utah Code Ann., relating to the filing of false call reports. The order stated Beutler knew the amounts shown in the accrued interest account were understated by approximately \$1.5 million at various times since October, 1981. (Exh. 67-P) Dee Hutzley, one of the Bank's directors, spoke at this meeting on behalf of the other directors. He stated that they were all aware of the accrual problem and that it would be entirely resolved within the next month. (Tr. 599, 1040, 1446)

When the regulators indicated the deficiency was \$1,000,000 or more, the Directors were in a state of shock and surprise. (Tr. 628-29, 1040-41, 1446)

Ron Draughon, one of the state bank examiners, recommended to Weis that Beutler be suspended because the call reports were

inaccurate, and Beutler accepted responsibility for the inaccuracy. Draughon did not recommend that Browning be suspended because Beutler admitted he had control of the financial statements and was the person who put the financial statements together, not Browning. (Tr. 984-86) Beutler admitted at the August 6, 1982, meeting that preparing call reports was his responsibility. (Tr. 1041-42)

After the Commissioner's order was issued, while Draughon was still in the Bank, he spoke with Browning and Kunz. He was not conducting an investigation at this time, because that was the Attorney General's job. Out of curiosity, Draughon asked Browning and Kunz whether they were aware of the magnitude of the accrual deficiency before the examination started. They both indicated they were not. (Tr. 976-78) Draughon asked Browning and Kunz this question after Draughon had already discovered a much larger accrual deficiency than had been reported by Beutler. (Tr. 990-91)

The Bank hired Peat, Marwick and Mitchell to perform a complete audit. The partner in charge was Thomas Timmons. (Tr. 151-52, 1229) The audit began in August, 1982, the work was completed by the end of October, 1982 and the reports were delivered to the Bank in early December, 1982. (Tr. 1229-30)

Peat, Marwick found various accounting errors during its audit, including the accrual account deficiency. Peat, Marwick

recommended that the errors be corrected at one time--the same recommendation as Heslop made in 1981. (Tr. 152-53)

By order of Commissioner Weis dated February 23, 1983, all restrictions placed on the Bank in the August 6, 1982, order were removed. (Tr. 496-98; Exh. 56-D)

3. Attorney General Investigation.

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