1990

Ivan J. Heslop v. Bank of Utah : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

A. The trial court properly denied the bank's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

1. The jury verdict was supported by sufficient evidence that Heslop was constructively discharged. Heslop had a history of promotion and favorable treatment at the Bank until November 1981. He fell from favor because he opposed the Bank's method of resolving the accrual problem. Heslop carried additional disfavor because he voluntarily met with the Attorney General in September 1982. His personal notes were deceptively taken by Bank counsel who were trying to end the Attorney General's investigation. The Bank enlisted the aid of Timmons, a supposedly independent

auditor, to end the investigation. Timmons was then hired as Bank President. Heslop opposed Timmons' hiring. In January 1983, Timmons demoted Heslop to Agricultural Loan Specialist and then instituted a policy that the Bank would make no agricultural loans. In September 1983, Heslop was falsely accused of violating loan policy and his lending authority was revoked. In October 1983, Timmons requested Heslop's written resignation. Heslop unsuccessfully petitioned the Board of Directors for relief.

The evidence presented by Heslop at trial on the constructive discharge issue was sufficient to meet the legal standard set forth in Jury Instruction Nos. 15 and 16. Arguably, the legal standard that actually applies in Utah is less stringent.

Cases cited by the Bank in support of its argument that Heslop was not constructively discharged are distinguishable from this case.

2. The jury verdict was supported by sufficient evidence that Heslop had an implied-in-fact contract with the Bank terminable only for good cause. The employment application signed by new employees at the Bank did not rise to the dignity of an employment contract. Even if Heslop's application form were construed as an express, integrated employment contract, that agreement terminated when Heslop quit in 1959. A majority of the witnesses at trial testified that the Bank's policy was to terminate employment only for just cause. The jury considered this evidence more persuasive than the Bank's evidence of an at-will employment policy.

3. The jury verdict was supported by sufficient evidence that the Bank terminated Heslop's employment without good cause. Heslop was a good loan officer with a good loan/loss record. The Gabbert loan was not good cause to terminate his employment.

Any negative criticism of Bank management by Heslop was exclusively contained within his personal notes. His notes were kept confidential until the Bank deceptively obtained them during the Attorney General's investigation.

4. The Bank failed to meet its affirmative obligation to marshal all the evidence supporting the jury verdict and then show the evidence cannot support the verdict. The Bank's Brief does nothing more than reargue the same points raised at trial.

B. The trial court properly denied the Bank's motion for a new trial.

1. The evidence at trial regarding the accrual account problem, investigations of the Bank, hiring of Timmons, payments to PMM, wash entries, and terminations of other employees was relevant to Heslop's case and the danger of unfair prejudice did not substantially outweigh its probative value. These events occurred within two years of Heslop's wrongful discharge from the Bank.

The accrual problem caused a change in Heslop's relationship with his employer. The wash entries, investigations, and PMM audit were relevant to show the correctness of Heslop's opposition to the Bank's method of resolving the accrual problem. During the Attorney General's investigation, Heslop's superiors were angry because he voluntarily met with the Attorney General. Timmons' hiring corresponded with a decline in Heslop's responsibility at the Bank. Timmons' remuneration and the payments to PMM related to the Bank's claim of financial difficulty. The wrongful terminations of other employees supported the argument that Heslop was constructively discharged.

2. After the trial court dismissed Heslop's public policy claim, the accrual problem was still relevant to the issues of good cause and constructive discharge. Facts relating to an implied-in-fact contract terminable only for just cause were remote in time and unrelated to the accrual problem.

3. Browning's failure to request Heslop's resignation in January 1983 did not preclude any causal connection between prior events and Heslop's wrongful termination in October 1983. The accrual problem was still relevant to show the abrupt

change in Heslop's relationship with his employer. Moreover, Browning may have just waited for a more opportune time.

4. The misstatement of Draughon's testimony by Heslop's counsel during closing argument was harmless error. The misstatement caused no significant difference in the outcome of the trial. The Bank's counsel failed to object to the misstatement.

C. The general rule is that a court's decision states the true nature of the law, both retrospectively and prospectively. The Berube opinion contained no statement that it applied prospectively only. The Bank has not shown that it justifiably relied on the employment-at-will doctrine in terminating Heslop's employment.

D. Heslop was promised employment at the Bank until he retired, unless there was good cause to terminate. He did not have a contract of employment to age 65, or for any other specific period of time. Since Heslop's employment contract could have been terminated within one year, it did not fall within the Statute of Frauds.

E. The trial court was aware of the Beck and Berube cases but refused to instruct the jury on consequential damages, including attorney fees. The court should have allowed such an instruction.

F. This court has recently regressed from its long-held position that all contracts contain an implied-in-law covenant of good faith and fair dealing. The Brehany v. Nordstrom decision should be vacated and this court should recognize an implied-in-law covenant of good faith and fair dealing in at-will employment contracts.

G. A large majority of the jurisdictions in the United States recognize the public policy exception to the employment-at-will doctrine. Very few of these jurisdictions have held that the public policy exception sounds in contract.

The purpose of the public policy exception is to prevent employers from discharging employees for cause "morally wrong". Contract damages may not deter employers from committing this most egregious form of wrongful discharge.

H. The Bank's decision to resolve the accrual problem over time placed Heslop in jeopardy of being charged with a third-degree felony. His opposition to the Bank's decision set in motion the events that ultimately caused his wrongful discharge. The public policy exception identified in Berube should extend to employees, like Heslop, who are wrongfully terminated for encouraging their employers to comply with the law.

VI.

ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE BANK'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT.

"A J.N.O.V. can be granted only when the losing party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Hansen v. Stewart, 761 P.2d 14, 17 (Utah 1988). On appeal, this court applies the following standard of review to the trial court's denial of the Bank's Motion for J.N.O.V.: "[W]e reverse only if, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the party who prevailed, we conclude that the evidence is insufficient to support the verdict." Id. See also Gustaveson v. Gregg, 655 P.2d 693, 695 (Utah 1982); Winters v. W.S. Hatch Co., Inc., 546 P.2d 603, 605 (Utah 1976). "The burden on an appellant to establish that the evidence does not support the jury's verdict and the factual findings implicit in that verdict under such a circumstance is quite heavy." Cambelt Intern. Corp. v. Dalton, 745 P.2d 1239, 1242 (Utah 1987).

In Mel Hardman Prod. Inc. v. Robinson, 604 P.2d 913 (Utah 1979), this court stated:

As we have numerous times indicated, the right of trial by jury is one which should be carefully safeguarded by the courts, and when a party had demanded such a trial, he is entitled to have the benefit of the jury's

findings on issues of fact; and it is not the trial court's prerogative to disregard or nullify them by making findings of his own. Therefore, in ruling on motions which take issues of fact from the jury (this includes both motions for directed verdict and for judgment notwithstanding the verdict), the trial court is obligated to look at the evidence and all reasonable inferences that fairly may be drawn therefrom in the light favorable to the party moved against; and the granting of such a motion is justified only if, in so viewing the evidence, there is no substantial basis therein which would support a verdict in his favor. On appeal, in considering the trial court's granting of such motions, we look at the evidence in the same manner.

604 P.2d at 917. Point I of the Bank's Argument must fail because there was sufficient evidence introduced at trial to support the jury's verdict.

Point I A. of the Bank's Argument is essentially an assertion that the trial court abused its discretion by allowing the jury to consider irrelevant and prejudicial evidence that prevented a fair trial. The assertions in Point I A. lend no support to the argument that there was insufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict. These arguments are more appropriately made exclusively within Point II B. Accordingly, Heslop's reply to Point II B. will also respond to the assertions contained in Point I A.

1. The Jury Verdict was Supported by Sufficient Evidence that Heslop was Constructively Discharged

From his rehire in 1962 to November 1981, Heslop had an uninterrupted history of promotion and favorable treatment at the Bank. That all changed, however, when he took a strong stand in opposition to the Bank's method of resolving the accrual problem. Beutler threatened Heslop's job. (Tr. 137-138, 332-334) Browning and Kunz, the two most influential members of the Board of Directors, were contemptuous of Heslop for exposing the accrual problem. (Tr. 856-857) The evidence plainly indicates that by December 1981, Heslop had fallen from favor and his career had begun moving in reverse.

In September 1982, Kunz was angry at Heslop because he voluntarily met with the Attorney General. (Tr. 157-158, 479) Heslop's notes, which contained his personal

criticism of the Bank, were deceptively taken by Bank counsel in October 1982. (Ex. 39P) In January 1983, Heslop was demoted to the position of Agricultural Loan Specialist and soon afterward the Bank instituted a verbal policy against making agricultural loans. (Tr. 125-126, 191)

In September 1983, Heslop was falsely accused of violating loan policy and his lending authority was revoked. (Ex. 16P) In October 1983, Timmons requested Heslop's written resignation. (Tr. 249-251; Ex. 21P)

The foregoing facts are sufficient to support the jury verdict on constructive discharge, and meet the legal standards set forth in Instructions 15 and 16. Even if the jurors believed that Heslop was not asked to submit his written resignation, there was still sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict on constructive discharge. The jurors could have reasonably concluded that the Bank was trying to force Heslop to resign. Even if that was not the Bank's intent, however, it could still be found liable for constructive discharge. "[A]n employer may merely have intended to make life unpleasant for his employee, yet be found liable for constructive discharge, if the reasonably foreseeable impact of the employer's conduct was to cause the employee to quit." Colman v. Wayne State University, 664 F. Supp. 1082, 1092 (E.D. Mich. 1987).

The revocation of all lending authority was particularly humiliating for Heslop because of the types of loans that he made and the long-standing relationships that he had with his clients. (Tr. 796-797, 573) Heslop was a loan officer. The total revocation of his lending authority would be analogous to telling a judge that he or she could not make a decision but could perform all other judicial functions.

In Zilmer v. Carnation Co., 263 Cal. Rptr. 422 (Cal. App.2d Dist. 1989), Zilmer was discharged after 31 years of employment during which he rose from the position of office management trainee to division controller of the largest division in the company. One year before the discharge, supervisors Pate and Adams reorganized the accounting

department. They informed Zilmer that he had to obtain a certified management accountant certificate as a precondition to further employment with the company. Zilmer said he did not believe he could obtain the certificate due to added responsibilities and work requirements. The supervisors informed him that no exceptions would be made to this requirement.

After Zilmer's discharge, defendant hired non-certificated employees and relieved existing employees of the obligation. Zilmer's complaint alleged that the supervisors' representations were false and intended to create intolerable working conditions, thus forcing Zilmer's resignation. The scheme was part of a plan to replace high-level managerial personnel with associates and friends of Adams from Price Waterhouse, where he was formerly employed. The court held that Zilmer stated a claim for constructive discharge.

Several long-term employees of the Bank were wrongfully discharged by Timmons soon after Heslop left. The jurors could have reasonably concluded that Timmons was trying to force the resignations of long-term managerial personnel at the Bank for his own benefit. Without the support of influential directors like Browning and Kunz, Heslop had no chance of survival at the Bank.

In Real v. Cont'l Group, Inc., 627 F. Supp. 434 (N.D. Cal. 1986), the plaintiff began work for Continental in 1950. He received numerous promotions and pay increases until he reached the position of manager of industrial engineering for Continental's Pacific Division, a Grade E-15 position. In 1981 Real was demoted five grades to the position of supervisor of industrial engineering as a result of a reorganization at Continental. His salary and benefits, however, did not change. Real was denied the position of manager of industrial engineering for the newly-created Western Division.

In 1982 the company reorganized again and Real's position as supervisor of industrial engineering was eliminated. He was offered a Grade E-11 position at another plant, but without relocation benefits. Real declined the offer. Real was denied the position of supervisor of quality control at the nearby San Jose plant, but was eventually offered the Grade E-6 position of plant buyer at that location. Real would have retained his previous salary and benefits. However, rather than accept a nine-grade demotion, he left Continental. At trial, the jury found that Continental constructively discharged Real. Continental's Motion for J.N.O.V. argued that the evidence was insufficient to support the jury verdict of constructive discharge. In denying Continental's Motion the court said, "[T]here was a sufficient basis for the jury to find that a reasonable person in Mr. Real's position would have felt compelled to resign when he did." 627 F. Supp. at 443 The court added:

Mr. Real's career at Continental was moving in reverse with no apparent hope of any advancement at the time he left the company in February 1982. . . . Continental makes much of the fact that despite the plaintiff's demotion and job offers graded substantially below the job he held prior to June 1981, Mr. Real suffered no reduction in his salary or benefits. This fact alone is not enough to defeat the jury's finding of constructive discharge. [citation omitted]

Id. The Bank's argument that Heslop was not demoted because he retained his same salary is not persuasive. Heslop's career was certainly moving in reverse with no apparent hope of advancement.

Although the evidence of constructive discharge in this case met the legal standards contained in Instruction Nos. 15 and 16, arguably the applicable legal standard in Utah for constructive discharge is less stringent. In Derr v. Gulf Oil Corp., 796 F.2d 340 (10th Cir. 1986), the court noted a divergence of opinion among the circuits as to the findings necessary to apply the doctrine of constructive discharge. Some courts apply a subjective standard by requiring the employee to prove the employer's specific intent to

force him to leave. Other courts have adopted an objective standard requiring the employee to prove that the employer has made working conditions so difficult that a reasonable person in the employee's position would feel compelled to resign. Id. at 343. In Derr the 10th Circuit Court of Appeals unqualifiedly adopted the objective standard. Contra Bratcher v. Sky Chefs, Inc., 308 Or. 501, 783 P.2d 4 (1989).

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